2001

Youth Tennis Foundations of Utah v. Tax Commission of Utah : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Decision #292 of the Tax Commission, November 11, 1975, concludes that the Youth Tennis Foundation of Utah is not a charitable organization and therefore is liable for sales tax in the sum of \$1,364.84 plus interest at 6% per annum from September 9, 1973 until paid.

Findings of fact and conclusions of law were issued by the Commission as the basis for its decision. At the outset it should be noted that such Findings and Conclusions are erroneous in fact. Paragraph #3 of the Findings states that the Foundation has conducted amateur and professional tennis tournaments as one of its regular functions and activities since 1940 on an annual basis and that such tournaments have produced thousands of dollars of income to the Foundation. This is correct. (Emphasis added)

Paragraph #8 of the Conclusions admits that the 1973 professional tennis tournament was similar to other tournaments conducted by the Foundation but asserts that, significantly, the 1973 tournament charged admissions, which none of the others had done and hence it was not a "regular" activity of the Foundation. This is incorrect. (emphasis added)

The record shows that since 1946 the Foundation has conducted at least 23 tennis tournaments, both professional and amateur, to which spectator admission tickets were sold. In this regard the Foundation staged 1946,

1955, 1958, 1959, and 1963 professional events in Salt Lake City involving touring professionals, including Jack Kramer and Pancho Gonzales. The Foundation also conducted the 1947 U.S. Clay Court Championships; the 1953 and 1954 U.S. Men's Hardcourt Championships; Six Utah Open Championships; the 1957 and 1968 NCAA Championships; three National Men's Amateur Indoor Championships and four Freed Invitational Men's Indoor Championships. From 1967 through 1974 alone net income from tournaments amounted to \$12,335.48 with by far the greater part coming from ticket sales for admissions. (Exhibit #6) (L 21, P 25 to L 12, P 26 and L 20, P 43 TR)

In his testimony, Mr. Freed stated:

"A..... The Foundation started promoting and conducting tournaments in the 1940's and has continued to do so on an annual basis, almost without exception, since that time.

Q. Is the conduct of tennis tournaments wherein the Foundation receives the net proceeds from entry fees and/or ticket admissions a regular function and activity of the Foundation?

A. Yes.

Q. Why?

A. It has been reasonably necessary for the foundation to sponsor and promote tennis tournaments in order to increase the funds coming into the Foundation. These activities over the years have produced thousands of dollars for the Foundation and such funds have greatly benefitted the junior tennis programs of the Foundation." (P 20 L 19 to P 21 L 9, TR)

With respect to the 1973 tournament, the Foundation was the sole promoter and beneficiary. It was held at the University of Utah Special Events Center and featured 22 world class players, including Jimmy Connors. The Foundation was entirely responsible for the event, obligating itself to pay all expenses incurred and receiving all net income therefrom.

Findings of Fact, para. #11, states that the Foundation buys and maintains life insurance as to David L. Freed, the proceeds of which will be used to pay off loans by the Foundation to the Salt Lake Tennis Club.

The facts are that the insurance was jointly obtained and paid for by the Foundation and the Club and its purpose was to insure that the loan would be paid off in full if Mr. Freed died. The lone beneficiary as to the loan was the Foundation and no person, including Mr. Freed or any associate or member of his family, could have any interest in the proceeds. (L 21, P 101 to L 22, P 102 and L 6-13, P 27 TR) When the value of the Tennis Club property reached a point far in excess of the loan balance due said insurance was cancelled as of 1973. (L 6-13 P 27 TR)

Findings #9 asserts that loans have been made by the Foundation to the Freed Investment Company, with David L. Freed being the principal owner of the company as well as a director of the Foundation. The loans to said Company were made to obtain secure, safe and favorable interest income and were not in any sense entered into for the benefit of the Company. In fact, the loans were fixed at higher interest rates than the Company would have had to pay at the bank and are in that sense donations to the Foundation. (L 17-19, P 75 TR) Freed Investment Company is worth millions of dollars and it would have no difficulty at all borrowing money from banks rather than the Foundation. The loans were in each case secured by pledges of stock having a market value several times higher than the loan amounts. Interest on these loans are fixed so that they rise with the market. (L 21, P 74 to L 19, P 75; L 19-23, P 94 and L 7, P 124 TR).

Applicable Constitutional and Statutory provisions in this matter are as follows:

1. "Article XIII, Section 2, Utah Constitution. All tangible property in the State not exempt under the laws of the United States, or under this Constitution, shall be taxed in proportion to its value, to be ascertained as provided by law...Lots with the buildings thereon used exclusively for either religious worship or charitable purposes...shall be exempt from taxation."
2. "Section 59-15-6 Utah Code Annotated, 1953. Exempt Sales...All sales made to or by religious or charitable institutions in the

conduct of the regular religious or charitable functions and activities;...and all sales which the State of Utah is prohibited from taxing under the Constitution or laws of the United States or the State of Utah shall be exempt from taxation under this act."

3. "Section 59-2-30, Property Used for Religious Worship or Charitable Purposes--Requirements for Exemption....This section is intended to clarify the scope of exemptions for property used exclusively for either religious worship or charitable purposes provided for in Section 2 of Article XIII of the Constitution of the State of Utah. This section is not intended to expand or limit the scope of such exemptions. Any property whose use is dedicated to religious worship or charitable purposes including property which is incidental to and reasonably necessary for the accomplishment of such religious worship or charitable purposes, intended to benefit an indefinite number of persons, is exempt from taxation if all of the following requirements are met:
 - (1) The user is not organized to produce a profit from the use of the property.
 - (2) No part of any net earnings, from the use of the property, inures to the benefit of any private shareholder or individual, but any net earnings shall be used directly or indirectly, for the charitable or religious purposes of the organization.
 - (3) The property is not used or operated by the organization or other person so as to benefit any officer, trustee, director, shareholder, lessor, member, employee, contributor, or any other person through the distribution of profits, payment of excessive charges or compensations."
4. "Section 59-2-31. Applicability of Constitutional Provisions for Exemption of Property used for Charitable Purposes....
 - (1) Property used exclusively for religious, hospital, educational, employee representation, or welfare purposes which use complies with the requirements of Section 59-2-30, shall be deemed to be used for charitable purposes within the exemption provided for in Section 2 of Article XIII of the Constitution of the State of Utah and Section 59-2-30.
 - (2) This section shall not defeat exemptions for property not specifically enumerated which may be found to be within the exemption provided in Section 2 of Article XIII of the Constitution of the State of Utah."

The Foundation is a non-profit corporation of Utah. (L 12-15, P 12 TR and Exhibit #1) It has prepared and filed with IRS approval federal tax returns using Form 990 "Return of Organization exempt from Income Tax" as

an entity entitled in all respects to such status. (L 10-11, P 60 TR and Exhibit #7) Persons contributing to it are entitled to personal deductions for same. (L 2-4, P 62 TR) The Foundation has no membership as such and it's affairs are administered by a four-man governing board. (L 23, P 64 and L 19, P 65 TR)

The Foundation was incorporated in 1946 as the "Tennis Patrons Association of Utah". Its originally stated purpose was found to be too broad in that it covered many things the organization never intended to, and never did, do. (L 22, P 66 to L 21, P 67 TR) This included such things as the building and constructing of tennis facilities. (L 19 P 52 TR) An amendment to delete such extraneous items was adopted October 9, 1951. (L 13-15, P 13 and exhibit #2)

As amended the Association stated it intended to promote the mental and physical welfare of all who might be benefitted by its activities. Its purposes were to promote amateur tennis; stimulate tennis in schools, playgrounds and parks; give encouragement, coaching and instruction to junior players; organize and manage tournaments, and, in general, to foster sportsmanship, recreation and health in the community. (L 7-15, P 13 TR) (Emphasis added)

From its inception in 1946, net funds of the Association were exclusively used to promote and develop junior tennis players, programs and activities. This obtained although the original purpose was not so limited. (L 2-6, P 16 and L 8-12, P 67 TR) In order to confirm this actual practice the name was changed to the Youth Tennis Foundation of Utah in 1961. (L 1-4, P 14 TR and Exhibit #3)

A ruling of the Internal Revenue Service of March 10, 1949 held that the Association was entitled to tax exemption under Section 101 (8) now 26 USCA 501 (c) (3) of the Code. This was affirmed August 12, 1949. By letter of

April 20, 1953, the IRS ruled that it was entitled to exemption under Section 101 (6), now 26 USCA 501 (C) (4). This ensued because the Foundation was deemed to be organized and operated exclusively for educational purposes. (Exhibit #5 para. #4)

The differences between 101 (6) and 101 (8), are enlightening. Both enable organizations qualifying thereunder to be tax exempt but the former, which is the current categorization of the Foundation, is reserved to entities having a higher value to society so that contributors thereto are granted personal deductions for same from their taxes. This Section creates exempt status for organizations operated exclusively for religious, charitable or educational purposes wherein no part of net earnings inures to the benefit of any private shareholder or person. (emphasis added) On the other hand Sec. 101 (8) pertains to civic leagues, clubs and organizations which are operated exclusively for social welfare purposes.

The nature and extent of the Foundation's income and outgo was testified to in detail. (Exhibit #6) Evidence discloses that its revenue for the past several years (1967 to 1974) has consisted of interest from loans (\$26,971.52); proceeds from tournaments (\$12,335.48 net); gain from the sale of equipment (\$2,257.25 net) and voluntary contributions (\$31,183.07) for a total of \$69,151.74. (L 2-25, P 18; L 15, P 19 TR and Exhibit #6)

In each instance such fund raising activities are regular in that they are of long and consistent duration and are reasonably necessary for and incidental to continuation and expansion of the Foundation's functions. It should be noted that, in addition to direct interest income, the loan to the Sale Lake Swimming and Tennis Club has accrued substantial ancillary benefit. Through it the Foundation has gained the use of the Club's outstanding indoor and outdoor facilities for conducting tournaments, lessons,

clinics and Junior and Little League Team competitions. (L 19, P 22 to L 14, P 24 and L 17-23, P 127 TR) This Club is non-profit also.

(L 14-20, P 115 TR)

Net income of the Foundation has been and is used exclusively in the promotion and development of junior tennis players and programs throughout Utah. (L 2-25, P 18 and L 15, P 19 TR) This is clearly reflected in testimony concerning the outgo of the Foundation. (Exhibit #6, page 3) In this context equipment has been donated to the University of Utah, Little League and Junior League teams, and Salt Lake City and County Recreation Department programs in the sum of \$22,000.00. (L 6, P 125 TR) This included, for instance, several thousand tennis balls at a cost that is now \$9.50 per dozen. (L 2, P 127 TR)

It should be noted that the aforesaid team programs involve approximately 2000 youngsters. Nobody is excluded from participation by reason of race, creed, color, religion or lack of finances. Those needing equipment are provided same without cost by the Foundation. (L 1-7, P 28 and L 18-19, P 116 TR) None of the Foundation's trustees or their relatives receive assistance. (L 3, P 96 TR)

The Foundation has contributed \$8,623.91 over the past seven years to provide advanced instruction to young boys and girls. In this way some 400 of them from 10 to 13 years of age received weekly group lessons at the Salt Lake Swimming and Tennis Club. (L 25, P 28 to L 13, P 29 TR) No players recommended for this program have been excluded. (L 24, P 117 to L 1, P 118 TR) Furthermore, the Foundation provided \$3,029.90 in travel funds so that players could compete in tournaments outside of Utah. (L 15-24, P 29 TR) In almost all instances the juniors concerned were not aware that the Foundation had assisted them and no promotional or advertising motives existed. (L 4-19, P 117 TR)

Direct monetary donations over the past seven years were made to the University of Utah tennis program in the sum of \$5,326.00. (L 11-13, P 30 TR) This directly benefitted juniors at the school. It also assisted those throughout the community in that University players provided good deportment and playing models; they practiced with other juniors and helped in the conducting of tournaments. (L 9-20, P 87 TR) Over the period in question the Foundation contributed \$1,509.91 for trophies to be awarded to participants in Little League, Junior League and Salt Lake City and County Recreation Department team competitions. (L 21, P 30 to L 5, P 31 TR)

In summary, from 1967 through 1974, the Foundation had total income of \$69,151.74 while it contributed \$55,860.24 to the development of junior tennis players and activities. Annually it has used an average of 80% or more of its income in its charitable purposes. The remainder is retained by the Foundation as a reserve. (L 19-24, P 31 TR) This has given Utah one of the outstanding junior programs in the United States. (L 1-15, P 88 TR)

The Foundation has almost no expenses and limits reimbursements to those that are reasonable and necessary. (L 23, P 69 and L 24, P 43 TR) Secretarial, accounting, legal and other services are donated. (L 17-21, P 18 and L 16-17, P 27 TR) No person or entity has any right to net funds (L 3, P 44 TR) and no Foundation officer or director receives any benefits. (L 15, P 46; L 19, P 46; L 23, P 46; L 3, P 47; L 18, P 47 and L 25, P 47 TR)

In conducting its 1973 professional tournament the Foundation reasonably secured the services of a manager who could devote his whole time to the promotion of ticket and program sales. (L 23, P 69 TR) Except for this all work was performed by more than 100 volunteers who contributed their time to the project without compensation. The primary purpose behind this event was the hope that substantial additional income could be generated that would

not otherwise be available. No desire existed as such to entertain spectators or to provide a venue for professional players. No participants were wined or dined and no receptions were held. (L 22-25, P 68 TR)

Upon dissolution all Foundation assets will go to the University of Utah Development Fund. (Exhibit #4) If this is not in existence delivery will be made to the National Tennis Educational Foundation. (L 20, P 14 to L 4, P 15 TR) Now named the National Tennis Foundation, Inc., 51 E. 42nd St., New York, New York, such organization is a non profit corporation of charitable and educational purposes. (L 5-7, P 70 TR) It was established under the aegis of the United States Lawn Tennis Association to promote a nation-wide educational program for the encouragement and development of tennis as a sport of lifetime recreational and physical advantages. In particular it was intended to support an expanded junior program. Its purposes are set forth in its Articles of Incorporation filed with the New York Secretary of State and summarized in the 1974 Official USLTA Yearbook. Amendment of the Foundation articles to provide for the aforesaid distribution of assets was suggested but was not made mandatory by an IRS auditor. (L 24-25, P 65 and L 8-15, P 66 TR)

The tournaments conducted by the Foundation have been reasonable and necessary in providing income for expansion of its activities. The relatively poor return from the 1973 meet, which would be a loss if the tax herein is required, was certainly not anticipated. (L 6-18, P 25 TR) It did however provide substantial ancillary benefits to junior tennis in Utah. It displayed world class players to hundreds of Utah youngsters, (L 22, P 110 TR) which is an important element in fostering tennis skills. For this reason the Foundation provided free admission to juniors (L 25, P 110 TR) with approximately 2000 tickets being distributed without charge to Salt Lake junior and senior high schools daily. (L 9-8, P 111 TR)

The Foundation's charitable activities benefit an indefinite number of Utahns. Donations made by the Foundation to such activities over the past seven years totaled \$55,860.24 in cash or equipment. In 1974 alone some 2000 boys and girls were assisted in team play. (L 3, P 31 TR) Further some 400 received weekly instruction while still others were assisted through travel funds. (L 9-22, P 28; L 8-18, P 29; L 21, P 30 to L 10, P 31 and L 22, P 36 to L 9, P 37 TR) Participation figures are increasing each year and ever greater numbers will be aided in the future as and when funds increase. (L 10-15, P 35; L 18-23, P 35; L 25, P 35 to L 8, P 36 TR)

The aforementioned programs confer direct monetary and material assistance to Salt Lake City and County Governments and their taxpayers. (L 1-4, P 28 TR) If such was not given the children and their parents involved would look to the City and County Recreation Departments to fill the void. (L 12-20, P 36 TR) Mr. Harrison former Salt Lake City Mayor, testified that the Foundation's activities saved tax money. (L 9-25, P 77 and L 7, P 78 TR)

The State of Utah in the form of the University of Utah is directly aided by the Foundation. The University's outstanding tennis programs would not continue on the same high level now obtaining were such support to cease. (L 10-11, P 38 and L 2-6 and L 17-19, P 86 TR) This allows the school to devote part of its appropriated monies or tuition funds to other needs. On an annual basis the Foundation's contributions to the University are substantial amounting to \$2,600.00 in 1973 while over the past years it has reached several thousands of dollars. (L 2-6 and L 14, P 86 and L 6-7, P 92 TR)

These activities are not rendered any less charitable because the State, County and/or the City has no legal duty to provide tennis programs for junior players. Mr. Harrison pointed out that the tennis sponsored by the Recreation Departments was necessary in providing well rounded recreational opportunities for the citizens of the community which they could and would insist upon. (L 14-15, P 78 TR) He also made it clear that said Governments could not afford to assume the support now furnished by the Foundation. (L 8-13, P 79 TR) It is enlightened policy to foster tennis programs in the public interest. (L 9-22, P 83 TR)

The largest single portion of the Foundation's income derives from contributions. (L 2-14, P 18 and L 13-14, P 20 TR and Exhibit #6) For 1967 through 1974 this income reached \$31,183.07 from 448 separate donors. (L 10-17, P 22 TR) In 1973 this totaled \$1,722.00 (L 19, P 70 TR) with over half coming from those not associated with the Foundation. (L 16, P 71 TR) The ratio of income to donations by the Foundation is strikingly favorable when viewed in the context of other charities. Virtually no income is consumed by overhead or expense costs and the Foundation annually donates from 50% to more than 100% of its yearly net income. (L 1-4, P 32 TR and Exhibit #6)

ARGUMENT

- I. THE YOUTH TENNIS FOUNDATION OF UTAH IS A CHARITABLE ORGANIZATION AND IS ENTITLED TO TAX EXEMPT STATUS.
 - A. THE FOUNDATION'S ACTIVITIES IN DEVELOPING AND PROMOTING JUNIOR TENNIS PLAYERS AND PROGRAMS IN UTAH ARE CHARITABLE.

The threshold issue is whether or not the Foundation's activities in developing, promoting and fostering junior tennis players and programs are charitable. If so it is clearly entitled on its own merits to exemption from the sales taxes levied hereon.

Evidence in the record is uncontroverted that the Foundation's activities are beneficial in several substantial ways to the youth of this state. They are given equipment and tennis materials. They are furnished with tennis instruction, training and competition. They are assisted in traveling to and participating in tournaments. Such activities are clearly a material physical, mental, moral and social benefit to thousands of young boys and girls.

Tennis is currently an "in" sport of great popularity because people, in general, have finally come to understand what the Foundation has espoused for thirty years, i.e. tennis is an ideal life-time sport that provides participants with healthful mental and physical stimulation. It gives enjoyment but more importantly it builds healthy bodies, teaches self-discipline and fosters honesty, neatness and courtesy. It is perhaps the only major sport where competitors in official tournament play are honor bound to fairly call their opponent's shots against their own self interest. They are obliged, at least in tournaments, to wear neat and clean attire and to treat competitors with respect.

84 CJS on Taxation, Section 282, states that an organization is charitable if it performs a service of public good having general welfare or societal value in some mental, physical or moral way. Such classification is not limited to assistance given to the poor or the sick. *William Budge Memorial Hospital v. Maughan*, 3 P 2d 258, Utah, (1931)

The fact that the Foundation fosters and develops athletic skills and physical well being enhances, not denigrates from its "charitable" nature. Charity covers a broad spectrum of activity and its legal definition goes far beyond the popular view of caring for the ill or indigent. This concept was expressed in *Green v. Connally*, 330 F. Supp 1150, (1971) where

it was held that the word "charitable" is to be viewed in its generally accepted legal, rather than popular, sense, which supposes it to apply to aid to the poor and sick only.

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