2001

Youth Tennis Foundations of Utah v. Tax Commission of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

A SALES TAX IS IMPOSED UPON ADMISSIONS TO PLACES OF AMUSEMENT, ENTERTAINMENT OR RECREATION WHICH TAX IS PAID BY THE PUBLIC PURCHASING SAID TICKETS.

The principal statute in this matter is set forth in Utah Code Annotated, Section 59-15-4, which provides:

"Excise tax--Rate.--From and after the effective date of this act there is levied and there shall be collected and paid:

* * *

(d) A tax equivalent to four percent of the amount paid for admission to any place of amusement, entertainment or recreation."

The above statute requires the collection and payment of sales tax on "admissions." This Court, in Barrett Investment Co. v. State Tax Commission, 15 Utah 2d 97, 99, 387 P.2d 998 (1964), has recognized the collection of sales tax on sales of certain services and admissions to places of amusement, entertainment or recreation.

In construing Utah statutes, the following rules should apply:

"Rules of construction as to words and phrases.--Words and phrases are to be construed according to the context and the approved usage of the language; but technical words and phrases, and such others as have

acquired a peculiar and appropriate meaning in law, or are defined by statute, are to be construed according to such peculiar and appropriate meaning or definition."
(Utah Code Annotated, Section 68-3-11
(1953))

Where there is doubt respecting true meaning of certain words, then words should be read in light of conditions and necessities which they are intended to meet and objects sought to be attained thereby. (United States Smelting, Refining & Milling Co. v. Utah Power & Light Co., 58 U. 168, 197 P. 902.) Therefore, the above statute should be read as intending to impose a sales tax upon the admission price to any place of amusement, entertainment, or recreation.

The administration of the sales and use tax is vested in the State Tax Commission. Utah Code Annotated, Section 59-15-20, provides:

"The administration of this act is vested in and shall be exercised by the state tax commission which may prescribe forms and rules and regulations in conformity with this act for the making of returns and for the ascertainment, assessment and collection of the taxes imposed hereunder."

Pursuant to the above-cited authority, the Utah State Tax Commission has adopted regulations which apply and should have been applied by the Foundation regarding the collection and payment of sales and use tax. The following sales tax regulations are pertinent:

1. S-2 provides that the nature of the sales tax is a transaction tax imposed upon admissions to any place of amusement, entertainment, or recreation. The purchaser is the actual taxpayer and the vendor is charged only with the duty of collecting the tax from the purchaser and paying the tax to the State.

2. S-23 provides that taxpayers who sell tangible, personal property or related services for resale, or to exempt customers, are required to keep records verifying the nontaxable status of such sales. The burden of proving that a sale is for resale or otherwise exempt shall be upon the person who makes the sale. (Emphasis added.)

3. Sales Tax Regulation S-33 provides:

"Admission defined.--The term 'admission' means the right or privilege to enter into a place including seats and tables reserved or otherwise and other similar accommodations and charges made therefor. The amount paid for the right to use a reserved seat or any seat in an auditorium, theatre, circus, stadium, schoolhouse, meeting house or gymnasium to view any type of entertainment is taxable. The right to use a table at a night club, hotel, or roof garden is taxable, whether such charge is designated as a cover charge, minimum charge or any such similar charge, and the amount paid for such right is subject to the tax. This is true whether the charge made for the use of the seat, table, or similar accommodation is combined with an admission charge proper to form a single charge, or is separate and distinct from an admission charge, or is itself the sole charge.

"Where an original admission charge carries the right to remain in a place, or to use a

seat or table, or other similar accommodation for a limited time only, and an additional charge is made for an extension of such time, the extra charge is paid for 'admission' within the meaning of the law. Where a person or organization acquires the sole right to use any place or the right to dispose of all the admissions to any place for one or more occasions, the amount paid for such right is not subject to the tax on admissions. Such a transaction constitutes a rental of the entire place whether or not it is so designated. However, if the person or organization in turn sells admissions to the place, the tax will apply to amounts paid for such admissions."

4. S-34 provides:

"Place of amusement defined.--The phrase 'place of amusement, entertainment or recreation' is broad in meaning but conveys the basic idea of a definite location. The amount paid for admission to such a place is subject to the tax, even though such charge includes the right of the purchaser to participate in some activity within the place. For example, the sale of a ticket for a ride upon a mechanical or self-operated device is an admission to a place of amusement."

Based upon the above-cited statutes and regulations, an audited sales tax deficiency has been imposed against the admission price to the professional tennis tournament sponsored by the appellant.

POINT II

APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO EXEMPTION FROM SALES TAXES AS A CHARITABLE INSTITUTION UNDER THE FACTS WHERE THE MOTIVES OF ITS PRINCIPALS ARE NOT FREE FROM THE TAIN OF EVERY CONSIDERATION THAT IS PERSONAL, PRIVATE OR SELFISH.

Utah Code Annotated, Section 59-15-6, provides certain exemptions from sales tax and states:

"... and all sales made to or by religious or charitable institutions in the conduct of the regular religious or charitable functions and activities; ... shall be exempt from taxation under this act... ."

The general rule in the State of Utah is that the burden is on the taxpayer claiming exemption from taxation.

"... An exemption from taxation is never presumed but must be expressly and clearly conferred in plain terms and cannot be read into the statute. Provisions in a sales tax statute granting exemptions from the tax thereby imposed are to be strictly construed against the person who claims to be exempt under such provisions, and in favor of the taxing authority, in the absence of express legislative intent that the exemption is to be construed otherwise. All doubts, or all reasonable doubts, are resolved against the exemption... ."
(68 Am.Jur.2d Sales & Use Taxes, Section 11 pp. 25-26)

The initial question appears to be whether or not the Foundation is a "charity" within the meaning of the exemption set forth in Utah Code Annotated, Section 59-15-6. The definition of what constitutes a "charity" is difficult. One of the definitions suggested by the Court in Staines v. Burton, 53 Pac. 1015 (1898), provides that charity is:

"... whatever is given for the love of God, or for the love of your neighbor in the Catholic and universal sense,--given from these motives and to these ends,--free from the stain or taint of every consideration that is personal, private, or selfish."
(At page 1016) (Emphasis added.)

The facts presented at the formal hearing show that, although the Foundation is a nonprofit corporation, organized to promote "tennis", other indirect benefits accrued to its founders and organizers:

1. Revenue of the Foundation has been loaned for various personal purposes. Loans totalling some \$51,231.48 have been loaned to the Freed Investment Company at an interest rate not greater than 8 percent. Many times the interest rate was below 8 percent. Said loans were not really arms-length transactions, and it is doubtful that any demand for repayment could not be enforced when Mr. David Freed was a principal of appellant and also a principal owner of Freed Investment Company. If any loans to Freed Investment Company were, in fact, in excess of interest loans which could have been obtained from commercial banks, which is doubtful, then said interest payments represented an expense item deduction on corporate income tax returns of Freed Investment Company, although said interest expense accrued to the benefit of the Youth Tennis Foundation of Utah, appellant herein, in which Mr. Freed is a principal.

2. There were principal loans from appellant to the Salt Lake Swim and Tennis Club, of which Mr. Freed is also, or has been, a director, in the total amount of some \$54,000.00 at 5 percent per annum. Again, there is doubt as to whether this is legally enforceable as an arms-length transaction.

3. One of the actual expense items of appellant includes insurance premiums on the life of David L. Freed,

which expense ended in 1973. (TR-27, 101, 102) The reasons for the insurance are not clear, but it was stated that, if David L. Freed died, the loan of the appellant Foundation to the Salt Lake Swim and Tennis Club would be paid off in full, with all proceeds going to the Foundation, and none to the estate of David L. Freed. (TR-27) It was not clear why David L. Freed was liable for the debts of the Salt Lake Swim and Tennis Club.

4. The Foundation maintains that it purchases tennis equipment and balls at wholesale prices for sales to local schools at less than retail prices; however, a profit is made by the Foundation on said sales. (TR-53,57) Certain amounts of tennis equipment were purchased at wholesale and stored at the Salt Lake Swim and Tennis Club with Mr. David L. Freed and the club manager being the only ones having personal access to that equipment. (TR-108,109) But, significantly, Mr. Freed testified that he has never personally given any of the equipment to any individual, junior or otherwise, nor has Mr. Fairclough, the attorney. (TR-128) The manager of the Swim and Tennis Club has not ever personally given any equipment to any youngster. (TR-129) Apparently, the tennis professionals are the only ones who have made any distribution. (TR-128)

It should also be noted that appellant never sought an exemption from sales and use tax as a charitable organization

until at a point in time following the 1973 professional tennis tournament at the University of Utah's Special Event Center when questioned by sales tax auditors. The above-cited U.C.A., Section 59-15-6, granting an exemption from sales and use tax is not a self-executing statute, but requires that appellant file an application for exemption, which appellant has failed to do until this proceeding.

Respondent takes issue with the cases cited by appellant, dealing with ad valorem property tax laws as not being relevant to establish an exemption from sales taxes, which is a statutory excise tax imposed upon the transaction of buying and selling personal property. The ad valorem property tax statutes impose certain governmentally set mill levies upon property values determined at a fixed assessment levels. The two taxes are basically very different, and exemptions set forth in the Utah Constitution and general Utah statutes are fundamentally different. Hence, references to property tax statutes for determining exemption are immaterial and irrelevant.

Appellant also cites many cases from other jurisdictions dealing with exemptions for charitable organizations similar to appellant's organization. It should be noted at the outset that there are many varying and differing statutes throughout the United States, many of which are

greatly dissimilar to the Utah sales and use tax statutes. Many statutes impose gross proceeds taxes and other transaction taxes. References by appellant to cases outside of the jurisdiction of the State of Utah are irrelevant unless appellant can show similar sales and use tax statutes, exemptions and intent in setting forth exemptions for charitable organizations.

The above-cited facts seem to indicate that appellant utilizes its financial resources and revenue in a manner that is not free from the stain or taint of every consideration that is personal, private or selfish.

POINT III

THE CONDUCT OF THE PROFESSIONAL TENNIS TOURNAMENT CHARGING ADMISSIONS TO THE CONSUMING PUBLIC IS NOT "REGULAR" WITHIN THE MEANING OF U.C.A., SECTION 59-15-6.

The second aspect of the exemption set forth in U.C.A., Section 59-15-6, provides that the charitable activities and functions must be "regular." The conduct of the professional tennis tournament was similar to other tournaments conducted by the Foundation; however, significantly, the 1973 professional tournament charged admission prices which none of the other tournaments had charged.

(TR-98) Appellant has failed to submit any evidence or clarify on the record before the State Tax Commission whether other tournaments had charged admission prices to the consuming public, and, if so, how many of those tournaments

actually generated revenue from admissions. The amount of dollar income from admissions was never presented to the State Tax Commission. In fact, appellant, through Mr. Freed, testified (TR-98) that there was no previous sales tax on any of the tournaments, because there had been no admissions charged. Apparently, appellant has sponsored other professional tennis tournaments and has collected entry fees and advertising commissions. The conduct of the 1973 professional tennis tournament was not regular in terms of income and receipts. (See appellant's Exhibit No. 6, lines 5 and 6.)

In addition to the income irregularity, there were other irregularities. The conduct of the professional tennis tournament was not regular in terms of time expended by the principals of appellant in its promotion. Appellant hired a professional promotor who was entitled to a percentage of advanced ticket sales and advertising, which action appears to be profit-motivated in nature.

"Regular" is defined by Black's Law Dictionary, Rev. Fourth Edition, at page 1450, as:

"Steady or uniform in course practice or occurrence; not subject to unexplained or irrational variation. Regular is also the antonym of 'casual' or 'occasional'."
(Palle v. Industrial Commission, 79 Utah 47, 7 P.2d 284)

Sales Tax Regulation S-43 provides that all sales made to or by religious or charitable institutions in the conduct of their regular religious and charitable functions are not subject to sales tax, providing the property so sold or purchased is to be used, consumed or sold in carrying on the institution's regular religious or charitable purposes. The exemption granted by the statute under this rule does not apply to institutions merely operating upon a nonprofit basis. Every institution claiming exemption under this rule must obtain from the State Tax Commission an approval of its claim for such exemption. No such prior approval was obtained by appellant.

It is hereby submitted that the 1973 professional tennis tournament conducted by appellant was an activity not within the regular course of the charitable activities of the Youth Tennis Foundation as defined, such as to entitle it to exemption from sales tax under Utah statutes and regulations. Sales taxes should have been collected and paid on admissions to said pro-tennis tournament.

Respectfully submitted,

VERNON B. ROMNEY
Attorney General

G. BLAINE DAVIS
Assistant Attorney General

MICHAEL L. DEAMER
Assistant Attorney General